IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE .25(b) STATE OF CALIFORNIA



Jorge Navarrete Clerk

SAN DIEGANS FOR OPEN GOVERNMENT,

Deputy

Plaintiff, Appellant and Respondent,

v.

PUBLIC FACILITIES FINANCING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF SAN DIEGO, et al.,

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE D069751

Mara W. Elliott, City Attorney (Bar No. 175466)

MElliott@sandiego.gov

George F. Schaefer, Assistant City Attorney (Bar No. 139399)

GSchaefer@sandiego.gov

Meghan Ashley Wharton, Deputy City Attorney (Bar No. 250498)

MWharton@sandiego.gov

OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY

1200 Third Avenue, Suite 1100, San Diego, CA 92101

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Do non-party taxpayers have direct standing¹ to bring an action to challenge the validity of a public entity transaction for an alleged violation of the conflict of interest provisions of Government Code section 1090?

INTRODUCTION

Petitioners City of San Diego ("City"), the Public Facilities

Financing Authority of the City of San Diego ("PFFA") and affiliated
entities (collectively "Petitioners") respectfully request that the Supreme
Court of California reverse the Fourth District Court of Appeal's published
decision in San Diegans for Open Government v. Public Facilities

Financing Authority of the City of San Diego, 16 Cal.App.5th 1273 (2017)

("SDOG") filed November 9, 2017, which reversed the trial court ruling
that Respondent/Appellant/Plaintiff San Diegans for Open Government

("SDOG") lacks standing under Government Code section 1090 ("Section
1090") and Government Code section 1092 ("Section 1092") to bring a
claim to invalidate a public entity transaction for an alleged violation of
Section 1090.

The Supreme Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's decision in SDOG because the decision fundamentally confounds basic principles of statutory construction, raises serious constitutional concerns and opens the floodgates for those citizens rebuffed by the political process to abuse the

¹ Direct standing refers to independent standing in one's own name. In contrast, representational standing is standing to sue on behalf of the public entity involved in the transaction, primarily under Code of Civil Procedure section 526a.

State's court system to halt or delay local government projects and transactions that they disagree with.

First, this Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's decision in *SDOG* because it is clearly inconsistent with the plain language of Section 1092. Application of the California canons of statutory construction to the terms in Section 1092 reveal that direct standing to sue to void a transaction for an alleged violation of Section 1090 lies solely with the parties to the subject transaction. Without analysis, the Court of Appeal's *SDOG* decision adopts an erroneous construction of Section 1092 that is unsupported by the California canons of statutory construction. *SDOG*, 16 Cal.App.5th at 1284-85. Under the Court of Appeal's unsupported construction of Section 1092, Section 1092 would convey direct taxpayer standing to challenge a transaction as void for an alleged violation of Section 1090. *Id.* at 1285.

Second, this Court should reverse the Court of Appeal because the authorities relied on by the Court of Appeal in *SDOG* do not support the Court of Appeal's holding that direct taxpayer standing exists under Section 1092. *Id.* at 1280-82 (discussing *Thomson v. Call*, 38 Cal.3d 633 (1985), *Terry v. Bender*, 143 Cal.App.2d 198 (1956), *Finnegan v. Schrader*, 91 Cal.App.4th 572 (2001) and *Gilbane Bldg. Co. v. Super. Ct.*, 223 Cal.App.4th 1527 (2014)). Instead, the cases discussed by the Court of Appeal in *SDOG* involve actions brought by taxpayers on a representative basis *on behalf of* the public entity under Code of Civil Procedure section 526a ("Section 526a"). SDOG did not sue on behalf of the City and its affiliated entities and did not claim standing under Section 526a. It is consistent with an interpretation of Section 1092 that limits standing to

challenge a contract for a violation of Section 1090 to the parties to the contract that a taxpayer bringing a lawsuit on behalf of the public entity would have standing to allege a legal theory under Section 1090 because the claims in the lawsuit would be on behalf of a party to the contract. On the other hand, the cases addressing standing under Section 526a do not stand for the proposition that there exists direct taxpayer standing to bring an action to challenge a public entity transaction for an alleged violation of Section 1090.

Third, the grant of direct standing to private taxpayers to bring an action to enforce the civil penalties available under Section 1090 raises constitutional concerns regarding due process and fairness. In this action, a private taxpayer group, SDOG, which is represented by contingency fee counsel seeks to enforce a civil statute that is penal in nature and could give rise to criminal liability. Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1097. SDOG and its counsel clearly have a pecuniary interest in the litigation that may cloud their ability to advance the interests of justice and protect the due process rights of the parties to the transaction alleged to violate Section 1090. SDOG seeks to use the punitive provisions of Section 1090 to void the PFFA's transaction with a private party. Relief voiding the transaction would deny the private party its property interest in the outcome of the contract without due process. Under Clancy and Santa Clara, such private enforcement of the State's penal statutes is only acceptable if the private counsel is effectively monitored and controlled by the public entity. Cntv of Santa Clara v. Super. Ct., 50 Cal.4th 35, 51 (2010) ("Santa Clara"); People

ex rel. Clancy v. Superior Court, 39 Cal.3d 740, 748 (1985) ("Clancy"). SDOG and its counsel have no such supervision in this case.

Fourth, the Supreme Court should overturn the SDOG decision because it will almost certainly expose California local government entities and persons that do business with them to a flood of unmeritorious litigation by taxpayers who are unhappy with the outcome of the democratic process. The threat of Section 1090 litigation before and after the obligations on approved transactions are performed will cast a shadow of uncertainty over all public entity transactions for years after they are consummated. The SDOG decision opens the door for disgruntled taxpayers to initiate litigation that will halt both the public entity's and the private contracting party's performance of obligations under a challenged transaction indefinitely. Further, direct standing under Section 1090 leaves open the possibility that a taxpayer will challenge and seek to undo a transaction long after the public and private parties to the contract have performed their obligations. If upheld, the SDOG decision will impact the thousands of non-government parties who have in the past or will in the future enter into transactions with local government entities throughout the State. This new wave of private taxpayer litigation challenging public entity transactions for alleged violations of Section 1090 will no doubt force public entities to delay much-needed capital improvement projects and other transactions that were approved by the taxpayers' democratically elected representatives. Such actions will no doubt drive up private parties' cost of doing business with public entities in a manner that will eventually impact the bottom line of every local government entity in the State.

STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS

On March 17, 2015, the City of San Diego adopted San Diego Ordinance No. O-20469 and PFFA Resolution No. FA-2015-2 authorizing the issuance of the 2015 Refunding Bonds to refund and refinance the remaining amount owed by the City on the 2007 bond issuance relating to the remaining debt for the construction of Petco Park ("2015 Refunding Bond Approvals" and "2015 Refunding Bond Issuance"). 1 AA 16/186:2-5. Pursuant to the 2015 Refunding Bond approvals, the following entities would serve in the following described roles for purposes of the 2015 Refunding Bond Issuance:

- a. Outside Financial Advisor to the City Public Resources Advisory Group
- b. Bond and Disclosure Counsel Nixon Peabody LLP
- c. <u>Bond Trustee</u> Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
- d. Lead Underwriter RBC Capital Markets
- e. Other members of the Underwriter Syndicate BofA Merrill Lynch, William Blair, Stern Brothers & Co.
- f. <u>Underwriter's Counsel</u> Sidley Austin LLP 1 AA 12/131:1-13.

Neither SDOG nor any of its members are or will be a party to any of the various transactions that will make up the 2015 Refunding Bond Issuance. 1 AA 12/131:14-16.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On May 18, 2015, SDOG initiated this action seeking to invalidate the 2015 Refunding Bond Approvals. 1 AA 16/186:5-7. In the action,

SDOG alleges that Wells Fargo Bank and BofA Merrill Lynch, two large international banks, are "public officials" as that term is defined in Section 1090 because the City and its affiliated entities use the entities to process banking and investment transactions. Therefore, SDOG contends that Wells Fargo and BofA Merrill Lynch cannot serve in the roles of bond trustee and underwriter because the banks would have an unlawful interest in the bond transaction. The alleged conflict of interest of the banks is the sole allegation by SDOG supporting its contention that the transaction violates Section 1090.

Just prior to the start of trial and before reaching the question of the applicability of Section 1090 to the banks, the trial court took up the initial question of whether SDOG has direct standing to assert a claim to invalidate or void the 2015 Refunding Bond Approvals under Section 1090 and Section 1092. 1 AA 106/Ex. 1 at 188. After expedited briefing, the trial court ruled that SDOG did not have direct standing to bring a claim to challenge the validity of the 2015 Refunding Bond Approvals under Section 1090. 1 AA 16/Ex. 1 at 187:15-17. The trial court's decision rejecting SDOG's claim to direct standing to challenge the 2015 Refunding Bond Approvals for an alleged violation of Section 1090 was soundly grounded in the Court of Appeal's interpretation of Sections 1090 and 1092 in San Bernardino Cnty v. Superior Court, 239 Cal.App.4th 679, 684-88 (2015), review denied (Nov. 24, 2015) ("San Bernardino"). 1 AA 16/Ex. 1 at 188-89.

Following initial and post-argument briefing to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, the Court of Appeal issued its decision overturning the trial court's ruling on standing. *SDOG*, 16 Cal.App.5th 1273, 1284-85. Without analysis of the text of Section 1090 or Section 1092 and without applying the California canons of statutory interpretation, the Court of Appeal in *SDOG* interprets "section 1092's reference to 'any party' to include any litigant with an interest in the subject contract sufficient to support standing." *Id.* at 1284. Again, with little analysis, the Court of Appeal holds that standing under Section 1092 is broadly conferred on taxpayers within the public entity's jurisdiction who would otherwise have standing to bring a reverse validation action under Code of Civil Procedure section 863 or a representative action on behalf of the public entity under Section 526a. *Id.* at 1285.

Petitioners requested rehearing arguing that the Court of Appeal's decision failed to apply the California canons of statutory interpretation to the language of Section 1090 and Section 1092. The Fourth District denied rehearing. This Court granted review.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The applicable standard of review is de novo. Aryeh v. Canon Bus. Solutions, Inc., 55 Cal.4th 1185, 1191 (2013).

ARGUMENT

I. STANDING TO BRING AN ACTION IN CALIFORNIA COURTS

A. California Law Governing Standing

Standing to initiate a civil action in California requires that a complainant plead an actual justiciable controversy as to which the complainant has a real interest in the ultimate adjudication because

complainant has either suffered or is about to suffer an injury of sufficient magnitude. Chiatello v. City & Cnty of San Francisco, 189 Cal.App.4th 472, 480-81 (2010). As a general rule, to have standing, the complainant must have some "special interest to be served or some particular right to be preserved or protected [in the litigation] over and above the interest held in common with the public at large." Carsten v. Psychology Examining Comm., 27 Cal.3d 793, 796-97 (1980).

However, under California law there are circumstances under which a citizen taxpayer without a special interest in the outcome of the litigation may have standing to bring an action to compel a governmental entity to comply with a constitutional or statutory duty. *Id.* at 797. For example, when the law imposes a duty upon a public officer, a citizen may bring an action for writ of mandamus to seek to force the public officer to perform the duty. Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 1086; *Save the Plastic Bag Coal v. City of Manhattan Beach*, 52 Cal.4th 155, 166 (2011). In such instance, the citizen bringing the action need not show that he/she has a legal or special interest in the result. *Id.*

Similarly, Section 526a provides a mechanism for a taxpayer to seek to prevent illegal, injurious or wasteful actions by public officials. Section 526a provides as follows:

An action to obtain a judgment, restraining and preventing any illegal expenditure of, waste of, or injury to, the estate, funds, or other property of a county, town, city or city and county of the state, may be maintained against any officer thereof, or any agent, or other person, acting in its behalf, either by a citizen resident therein, or by a corporation, who is assessed for and is liable to pay, or, within one year before the commencement of the action, has paid, a tax therein. This section does not affect any right of action in favor of a

county, city, town, or city and county, or any public officer; provided, that no injunction shall be granted restraining the offering for sale, sale, or issuance of any municipal bonds for public improvements or public utilities.

Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 526a. Standing under Section 526a is available "even where the injury is insufficient to satisfy general standing requirements." Weatherford v. City of San Rafael, 2 Cal.5th 1241, 1249 (2017). This Court has held that section 526a "represents a legislative decision to create judicial access for parties that would not otherwise be eligible to seek relief under sections 367 or 1086." Id. (citations omitted). The Legislature's primary purpose in enacting Section 526a was to "enable a large body of the citizenry to challenge governmental action which would otherwise go unchallenged in the courts because of the standing requirement." Blair v. Pitchess, 5 Cal.3d 258, 267-68 (1971) (citations omitted).

B. Direct, Representational and Associational Standing

Under California law, there are two types of standing for taxpayer actions. Direct standing refers to a situation where the taxpayer in question has a legal right to pursue the cause of action in his or her own right. Either an individual or an entity can have direct standing to sue a public entity if authorized by law. *See Hatchwell v. Blue Shield of Cal.*, 198 Cal.App.3d 1027, 1034 (1988). In this action, SDOG claims to have direct taxpayer standing to sue the Petitioners.

On the other hand, representational standing or indirect standing is standing by a taxpayer or taxpayer organization to bring an action that purports to be *on behalf of the public entity*. A taxpayer with representational standing may or may not also have direct standing to sue

on an individual basis. A taxpayer has standing under Section 526a to sue a governmental body in a representative capacity in cases involving fraud, collusion, ultra vires or failure on the part of the governmental body to perform a duty specifically enjoined. *Gogerty v. Chachella Valley Junior Coll. Dist.*, 57 Cal.2d 727, 730 (1962); *Silver v. City of Los Angeles*, 57 Cal.2d 39, 40-41 (1961); *Torres v. City of Yorba Linda*, 13 Cal.App.4th 1035, 1046-47 (1993).

Representative standing should not be confused with the concept of associational standing. Associational standing is standing for an organization that is derived from the individual standing of one or more of its members. In the context of taxpayer litigation, associational standing can be either direct standing or representational standing. Associational standing that is also direct taxpayer standing when an association sues a public entity based on the right of an individual member to sue the public entity directly for a violation of a right. This is the type of associational standing that SDOG claims to have in this case – the right to bring an action in the SDOG's own name by claiming that one of its taxpayer members has individual direct taxpayer standing. On the other hand, associational standing that is also representational taxpayer standing exists where a taxpayer organization sues a public entity on behalf of the public entity based on the right of one or more of its individual members to bring the action on behalf of the public entity. SDOG does not claim to have representational standing to bring this action. Representational standing is not available to SDOG in this case because representational standing under

Section 526a is unavailable to enjoin the issuance of municipal bonds. Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 526a.

II. SECTION 1092 VESTS DIRECT STANDING TO SUE TO VOID A TRANSACTION ALLEGEDLY MADE IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 1090 SOLELY UPON THE PARTIES TO THE TRANSACTION

A. Section 1090's Historical Antecedents

California's bar on public officials' interested transactions has a long history. As early as 1851, the Legislature acted to bar a government official from being "interested in any Contract made by such Officer or Legislature of which he is a member. . . ." Stats. 1851, ch. 136, § 2, p. 522; *Lexin v. Super. Ct.*, 47 Cal.4th 1050, 1072 n.10 (2010). The 1851 law provided that "all Contracts made in violation of the provisions of the first and second sections of this Act may be declared void at the instance of the City, Town, or Village, or County interested, or of any other party interested in such contract, except the Officers prohibited in said sections from making or being interested in such contract." Stats. 1851, ch. 136, § 3, p. 522.

At the same time, local government entities enacted similar provisions in city charters and other governing documents. Capital Gas Co. v. Young, 109 Cal. 140, 142 (1895) (referencing Section 211 of the charter of the city of Sacramento which stated that "[n]o member of the board of trustees, and no officer of or employee of the city, shall be or become directly or indirectly interested in or with the performance of any contract.

. . and all contracts made, or rights or franchises granted, in violation of this section shall be absolutely void"); see also Berka v. Woodward, 125 Cal.

119, 121 (1899) (enforcing a provision of the charter for the city of Santa Rosa that barred interested contracts).

In 1872, the Legislature codified the prohibition by codifying section 920 of the Political Code: "Members of the legislature, state, county, city and township officers, must not be interested in any contract made by them in their official capacity, or by any body or board of which they are members." Pol. Code § 920 (enacted March 12, 1872, amended March 27, 1921, Stats. 1921, ch. 489, p. 743, repealed with the enactment of the Government Code in 1943, Stats. 1943, ch. 134, p. 896) ("Section 920"); Stockton Plumbing & Supply Co. v. Wheeler, 68 Cal.App. 592, 597 (1924). Section 922 of the Political Code provided that "[e]very contract made in violation of any of the provisions of the two proceeding sections may be avoided at the instance of any party except the officer interested therein." Pol. Code § 922 (enacted March 12, 1872; repealed with the enactment of the Government Code in 1943, Stats. 1943, ch. 134, p. 896). In 1943, the Legislature moved the prohibition, with minor revisions, to the Government Code. Cal. Gov. Code §§ 1090, 1092.

From the late 19th century to the early 20th century, the prohibition set forth in Section 920 and similar local provisions were primarily used as a defense by public entities seeking to avoid performance of payment obligations on contracts allegedly made in violation of the prohibition. In the majority of these early cases, the private party contracting with the public entity initiated the action seeking payment. *Capital Gas*, 109 Cal. at 141 (private company seeking payment for gas used by the public entity); *Berka*, 125 Cal. at 121 (vendor seeking payment from the public entity for

lumber and materials); *Moody v. Shuffleton*, 203 Cal. 100, 100-101 (1928) (vendor seeking payment for printing services and supplies). In a handful of the early cases, the public entity sued the contracting party to void the contract allegedly infected by a conflict of interest. *President & Tr. of the City of San Diego v. San Diego & Los Angeles Ry. Co.*, 44 Cal. 106, 111-112 (1872) (public entity seeking to void a deed conveying land from the city to the railway); *Cnty of Shasta v. Moody*, 90 Cal.App. 519, 520 (1928) (public entity seeking to recover payments made on interested contract); *City of Oakland v. Cal. Constr.*, 15 Cal.2d 573, 574-75 (1940) (public entity seeking to recover payments on street improvement contract). Early versions of the prohibition also served as grounds for the criminal prosecution of public officials improperly interested in public entity transactions. *People v. Deysher*, 2 Cal.2d 141, 144-45 (1934).

Unfortunately, there exists no historical case law that addressed the issue of non-party direct standing to sue to void a transaction that allegedly violated these early State or local prohibitions. Further, Petitioners are aware of no historical cases in which a non-party to a transaction was permitted to sue in his/her own name to void the transaction for an alleged violation of one of the early prohibitions.

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