JUL 2 4 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

.

Deputy

SAN DIEGANS FOR OPEN GOVERNMENT,

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Plaintiff, Appellant, and Respondent,

٧.

PUBLIC FACILITIES FINANCING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF SAN DIEGO, et al.,

Defendants, Respondents, and Petitioners.

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

From a Decision of the California Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One D069751

Cory J. Briggs, Esq. (176284) Anthony N. Kim, Esq. (283353) BRIGGS LAW CORPORATION 99 East "C" Street, Suite 111 Upland, CA 91786

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

B. Standing Pursuant to Sections 1090 and 1092.

1. This Court's Fundamental Task Is to Effectuate the Purpose of the Statute.

The prerequisites for standing to assert statutorily-based causes of action "are determined from the statutory language, as well as the underlying legislative intent and the purpose of the statute." (*Boorstein v. CBS Interactive, Inc.* (2013) 222 Cal.App.4th 456, 465-466, citing *Surrey v. TrueBeginnings, LLC* (2008) 168 Cal.App.4th 414, 417-418. See also *Allen v. Sully-Miller Contracting Co.* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 222, 227 ["Where, as here, the issue presented is one of statutory construction, our fundamental task is to ascertain the intent of the lawmakers so as to effectuate the purpose of the statute."].)

Thus, "[w]e begin by examining the statutory language," which is given its usual and ordinary meaning. (*Allen*, *supra*, 28 Cal.4th at p. 227.) "If there is no ambiguity, then we presume the lawmakers meant what they said, and the plain meaning of the language governs." (*Day v. City of Fontana* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 268, 272.) If, however, the language is ambiguous, "we may resort to extrinsic sources," including the history and purpose of the statute. (*Id.*; *Eel River Disposal and Resource Recovery, Inc. v. Humboldt* (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 209, 225 ["Ambiguity exists when a statute is capable of being understood by reasonably well-informed persons in two or more different senses."].)

In the end, "we choose the construction that comports most closely with the apparent intent of the lawmakers, with a view to promoting rather than defeating the general purpose of the statute"; and, critically here, "[a]ny interpretation that would lead to absurd consequences is to be avoided." (*Allen*, *supra*, 28 Cal.4th at p. 227, citing *Day*, *supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 272, and *Torres v. Parkhouse Tire Service*, *Inc.* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 995, 1003.)

2. The Plain Language of Section 1092 Is Ambiguous.

As relevant here, section 1090, subdivision (a), provides that "city officers or employees shall not be financially interested in any contract made by them in their official capacity, or by any body or board of which they are members." (Gov. Code, § 1090, subd. (a).) The statute applies not only to public officials, but also to advisors, independent contractors, and other private parties who enter into public contracts with public officials or agencies. (See *Terry v. Bender* (1956) 143 Cal.App.2d 198; *Thomson v. Call* (1985) 38 Cal.3d 633, 637-638; *Hub City Solid Waste Services, Inc. v. City of Compton* (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 1114, 1124-1125.)

Section 1092, subdivision (a), which sets forth the remedy for a violation of section 1090, provides that "[e]very contract made in violation of [section 1090] may be avoided at the instance of any party except the officer interested therein." (Gov. Code, § 1092, subd. (a).)

Petitioners contend the phrase "any party" as used in section 1092 "necessarily refers to a person or entity that is a party to the transaction alleged to violate section 1090." (POB, p. 25.) Therefore, Petitioners claim, the statute is "unambiguous and clear" and requires no further construction, analysis, or interpretation. (POB, p. 25.)

However, the phrase "any party" is easily ambiguous, as it is "capable of being understood by reasonably well-informed persons in two or more different senses." (*Eel River Disposal and Resource Recovery, Inc.*, *supra*, 221 Cal.App.4th at p. 225.) For example, several cases cited in Petitioners' Opening Brief use the term "party"—changed by Petitioners to "complainant"—in a general sense to describe the person or entity hoping to invoke the judicial process (i.e., hoping to sue), without reference to any specific transaction. (See, e.g., *Chiatello v. City and County of San Francisco* (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 472, 480-481, as modified on denial of reh'g (Nov. 16, 2010); *Save the Plastic Bag Coalition v. City of Manhattan Beach* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 155, 165, citing Code Civ. Proc., § 1086.)

Moreover, several Courts of Appeal—including the Court of Appeal in this case—have come to the reasoned conclusion that the phrase "any party" is "not restricted to parties to the contract." (See, e.g., California Taxpayers, supra, 12 Cal.App.5th at p. 142 [First Appellate District]; McGee v. Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC (2016)

247 Cal.App.4th 235, 247-248 [Second Appellate District]; San Diegans, supra, 16 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1284-1285 [Fourth Appellate District]; Davis v. Fresno Unified School District (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 261, 297 [Fifth Appellate District]; Holloway v. Showcase Realty Agents, Inc. (2018) 22 Cal.App.5th 758 [Sixth Appellate District].)

Thus, the phrase "any party" is ambiguous, which means this Court may resort to extrinsic sources, including the history and purpose of the statute, to determine "the construction that comports most closely with the apparent intent of the lawmakers, with a view to promoting rather than defeating the general purpose of the statute."

(Day, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 272; Allen, supra, 28 Cal.4th at p. 227.)

3. Sections 1090 and 1092 Were Enacted to Assure Undivided and Uncompromised Allegiance.

The history and purpose of these statutes is not reasonably in dispute. Section 1090 "codifies the long-standing common law rule that barred public officials from being personally financially interested in the contracts they formed in their official capacities." (*Lexin v. Superior Court* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1050, 1072.) The statutes are thus "concerned with ferreting out any financial conflicts of interest . . . that might impair public officials from discharging their fiduciary duties with undivided loyalty and allegiance to the public entities they are obligated to serve." (*Id.*, citing *Stigall v. City of Taft* (1962) 58 Cal.2d 565, 569 ("*Stigall*").)

The evil to be thwarted is apparent: "If a public official is pulled in one direction by his financial interest and in another direction by his official duties, his judgment cannot and should not be trusted, even if he attempts impartiality." (*Id.* at p. 1073.) Therefore, as emphasized below, these "prohibitions [must] be vigorously enforced so that, in addition to punishing actual fraud and public malfeasance, public officials are not even tempted to engage in prohibited activity." (*San Diegans*, *supra*, 16 Cal.App.5th at p. 1278.)

The conflict of interest statutes were born from the general principle that "no man can faithfully serve two masters whose interests are or may be in conflict." (*Thomson*, *supra*, 38 Cal.3d at p. 647.) The law, therefore, simply "will not permit one who acts in a fiduciary capacity to deal with himself in his individual capacity" (*Id.* at pp. 647-648.)

4. The Policies Underlying Sections 1090 and 1092 Will Not Be Vindicated If Left to Be Self-Enforced.

Petitioners argue that, pursuant to section 1092, only a "party" to the unlawful contract has standing to invalidate it by way of a section 1090 claim. But Petitioners ignore that "[t]he strict and important policy embodied in section 1090 . . . will not be vindicated if public officials believe section 1090's substantive provisions may only be enforced by the very public officials or public entities who have violated the statute's provisions." (*San Diegans*, *supra*, 16 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1283-1284.)

Plainly, a public official's duty to avoid even temptation cannot be advanced by adopting a rule which limits civil enforcement to that public official or public entities controlled by the official. The self-evident nature of this proposition—that civil enforcement of section 1090 was never intended to be left in all cases to the parties to a government contract—arguably explains the silence of [earlier] courts [on the issue].

(San Diegans, supra, 16 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1283-1284, italics in original.) Petitioners' interpretation would thus defeat the general purpose of the statute. (Allen, supra, 28 Cal.4th at p. 227 ["we choose the construction that comports most closely with the apparent intent of the lawmakers, with a view to promoting rather than defeating the general purpose of the statute"], citing Day, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 272, and Torres, supra, 26 Cal.4th at p. 1003.)

Petitioners' interpretation would also lead to an absurd result, not only because of the irrationality of "self-enforcement," but also because section 1092 expressly precludes enforcement of section 1090 by the "officer interested therein." (Gov. Code, § 1092, subd. (a) ["Every contract made in violation of [section] 1090 may be avoided at the instance of any party except the officer interested therein." Italics added.].) Because section 1090 applies equally to public officials and private parties who enter into public contracts, every "party" could be deemed to be an "officer interested" in the unlawful contract from which

he stands to benefit; Petitioners' interpretation of section 1092 thus threatens to make the statute entirely unenforceable whenever every party to the unlawful contract stands to benefit from it. An interpretation leading to such absurd consequences should be avoided. (*Allen*, *supra*, 28 Cal.4th at p. 227, citing *Day*, *supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 272, and *Torres*, *supra*, 26 Cal.4th at p. 1003.)

5. Petitioners' Reliance on the Legislative History from 2007 Is Misleading.

In their Opening Brief, Petitioners claim the legislative history underlying the 2007 amendment to section 1092 is instructive, because it discusses "public entities trying to void contracts." (POB, pp. 25-27.) But Petitioners' characterization of that history is misleading at best.

In 2007, the Legislature amended section 1092 to include a four-year statute of limitations. In doing so, the Legislature provided a narrative of the circumstances giving rise to the amendment, making specific reference to one case, *Marin Healthcare Dist. v. Sutter Health* (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 861 ("*Marin Healthcare*"), wherein the Marin Healthcare District, a political subsidiary of the state, sued to recover possession of a publicly-owned hospital leased and transferred to Sutter Health twelve years before. (*Id.* at pp. 868-869.) The trial court held the lawsuit was time barred, and the Third District Court of

Appeal agreed, explaining that section 1090 claims may in some cases be subject to the one-year statute of limitations provided by Code of Civil Procedure section 340 (regarding forfeitures). (*Id.* at p. 877.)

In amending the statute, the Legislature referred to *Marin Healthcare*—which happened to involve a public entity—as one of the reasons for the amendment; but it made no specific reference to (or assertions regarding) the issue of standing, or whether standing to bring a section 1090 claim should be limited to public entities. Indeed, Petitioners' strategic reference to only those portions of the legislative history which describe *Marin Healthcare* is revealing, especially because the Legislature elsewhere refers generically to "plaintiffs" looking to file suit ("The four years would run from the time the *plaintiff* discovered, or in the exercise of reasonable care should have discovered, the violation."). For those reasons, Petitioners' analysis is unavailing.

6. The Legislative History from 2007 Constitutes "Legislative Acquiescence."

In fact, exactly contrary to Petitioners' view, the legislative history underlying the 2007 amendment to section 1092 is compelling for one reason: it demonstrates legislative acquiescence as a matter of law.

As this Court explained in *Olmstead v. Arthur J. Gallagher & Co.* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 804: "When a statute has been construed by the courts, and the Legislature thereafter reenacts that statute without changing the interpretation put on that statute by the courts, the Legislature is presumed to have been aware of, and acquiesced in, the courts' construction of that statute." (*Id.* at p. 815, citing *People v. Ledesma* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 90, 100-101, internal quotations omitted.)

Here, sections 1090 and 1092 were enacted in 1943, after which several courts—including this Court—presumed taxpayer plaintiffs had standing to bring a section 1090 claim. (See, e.g., *Terry*, *supra*, 143 Cal.App.2d at p. 204; *Stigall*, *supra*, 58 Cal.2d at pp. 570-571; *Thomson*, *supra*, 38 Cal.3d at pp. 646-649; *Thomson v. Call* (1983) 198 Cal.Rptr. 320, vacated (1985) 38 Cal.3d 633 ["The trial court found, and it is undisputed, that [the taxpayer plaintiffs] had standing to maintain the [section 1090] action."]; *Finnegan v. Shrader* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 572, 579.) Then, in 2007, the Legislature amended section 1092 to include a four-year statute of limitations, without mentioning, let alone denouncing, that interpretation.

The Legislature knew courts were interpreting section 1092 in a manner that provided for taxpayer standing to sue; and yet, when it amended the statute, it did nothing to revise the "any party" language at issue in this case. As stated in *Olmstead*, "[i]t is reasonable to

assume that if the Legislature disagreed with this interpretation, it would have clarified . . . when it [amended the] statute." (*Olmstead*, *supra*, 32 Cal.4th at p. 816.) Therefore, under the principle of "legislative acquiescence," this Court should presume the Legislature was aware of, and acquiesced to, the interpretation providing for taxpayer standing when it amended (but did not clarify the meaning of) section 1092. (*Id*.)

7. Conclusion Regarding This Court's Interpretation of Section 1092.

As recognized by the Court of Appeal below, and by every other Court of Appeal to consider the issue (with the dicta in *San Bernardino* being the only exception), it is apparent section 1092 provides for taxpayer standing to assert a section 1090 claim. That conclusion is consistent with decades of jurisprudence on the issue of standing; with principles of statutory construction, including the underlying legislative intent; and with important public policies, which cannot and will not be vindicated if public officials are themselves entrusted to invalidate the same unlawful contracts from which they stand to benefit.

C. <u>Standing Pursuant to Section 526a.</u>

In addition to the arguments outlined above, Petitioners claim that taxpayers can only assert conflict of interest claims in a representative capacity (pursuant to section 526a), and that

"[r]epresentational standing is not available to SDOG . . . because representational standing under [s]ection 526a is unavailable to enjoin the issuance of municipal bonds." (POB, pp. 18-20, 33-43.)

Petitioners are mistaken. First, as detailed above, section 1092 provides for direct taxpayer standing to sue. Second, and in any event, representative standing *is* available to SDOG because, while section 526a expressly proscribes injunctive relief restraining the offer, sale, or issuance of municipal bonds, it makes no reference whatsoever to declaratory relief. (See Code Civ. Proc., § 526a.)

1. Conflict of Interest Claims Are Subject to Both Direct and Representative Standing.

To support their contention that taxpayers can only assert conflict of interest claims in a representative capacity (that is, pursuant to section 526a), Petitioners recite a revisionist history of the cases applying section 1090, all of which they insist were brought pursuant to section 526a, even when section 526a appears nowhere in the opinion.

a. Case Law Pre-San Bernardino.

For decades, courts and litigants throughout the state have agreed that taxpayers have direct standing to sue pursuant to sections 1090 and 1092. In *Stigall*, for example, decided in 1962—and all but ignored in Petitioners' Opening Brief—Owen Stigall, the taxpayer plaintiff, sued the City of Taft for an alleged conflict of interest in

violation of section 1090. (*Stigall*, *supra*, 58 Cal.2d at p. 568.) While the issue of standing was not directly raised in that case, this Court's decision made specific reference to both sections 1090 and 1092, without any mention of section 526a, or any other form of "representative" capacity.

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